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NEAL DAVID SUTZ, AN INDIVIDUAL

Plaintifl

VS.

DAMIAN PARNELL CREAMER, AN
INDIVIDUAL

ROBERT GRANT BRADFORD, AN
INDIVIDUAL

HELEN MAI BRADFORD, AN INDIVIDUAL

CORTNIE HELEN CREAMER SUTZ, AN
INDIVIDUAL

STRONGMIND, TNC., AN ARIZONA
CORPORATION

THE AMERICAN VIRTUAL ACADEMY,
INC, AN ARIZONA CORPORATION

PRIMAVERA ONLINE, INC., AN ARIZONA
CORPORATION

PRIMAVERA TECHNICAL LEARNING
CENTER, AN ARIZONA CORPORATION;

DAMIAN P. CREMER REVOCABLE TRUST
AN ARIZONA TRUST (LAST NAME
..CREMER" SPELLED AS LISTED ON

SUPERIOR COURT OF ARIZONA

IN MARICOPA COUNTY

Case No. : cv2o19-oo49o5

COMPLAINT FOR:

1. SLANDER PER SE
2. LIBEL PER SE
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MARICOPA COUNTY ASSESSOR’S 

DATABASE FOR REAL ESTATE LISTINGS, 

A POSSIBLE INTENTIONAL MISSPELLING 

OF DAMIAN P. CREAMER, BY SELF, IN 

THE CREATION AND FILING OF SAID 

TRUST) 

NORTHERN LIGHTS STUDENT TUITION 

ORGANIZATION, AN ARIZONA 

CORPORATION 

AND DOES 1 THROUGH 50, INCLUSIVE, 

Defendants 

 

 

                                     JURISDICTION 

This Court has jurisdiction over the entirety of this matter and pleading, subject to A.R.S. 22-

211, A.R.S. 22-201 and A.R.S. 22-202, as all Defendants, both Individuals, Arizona 

Corporations and Arizona Limited Liability Corporations, reside and/or have their Primary 

places of businesses within Maricopa County, Arizona.  All Incorporated Defendants, are subject 

to being liable Defendants due to the Defendant, Damian P. Creamer, President, Founder, CEO 

and, Manager and/or Member, respectively of aforementioned Corporations, being 

simultaneously an Individual Defendant in this Complaint and assets, as well as profits, from All 

Incorporated Defendants being shared and benefitted by Defendant, Damian P. Creamer, Primary 

Defendant in this matter. 

 

                                              STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS 

Plaintiff acknowledges Arizona Revised Statutes Section 12-541(1). A.R.S. § 12-541(1), 

specifically detailing the law of State of Limitations in cases of Libel and Slander being one (1) 
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year from the time of “publication” of such Libel and/or Slander.  Statute Title being, “Malicious 

prosecution; false imprisonment; libel or slander; seduction or breach of promise of marriage; 

breach of employment contract; wrongful termination; liability created by statute; one-year 

limitation.” 

 

But the discovery rule should be applied in Arizona defamation claims when the defamation is 

published in a manner in which it is peculiarly likely to be concealed from the plaintiff, such as 

in a confidential memorandum or a credit report. See Clark v. Airesearch Mfg. Co., 138 Ariz. 

240, 242-243, 673 P.2d 984, 986-987 (App. 1983). The discovery rule is “[t]he rule that a 

limitations period does not begin to run until the plaintiff discovers (or reasonably should have 

discovered) the injury giving rise to the claim.” Black’s Law Dictionary 565 (10th ed. 2014). 

 

As all evidence in this Complaint, being shown in multiple Attachments herein, were discovered 

by Plaintiff, starting on April 18th, 2019, carefully hidden by Defendants from Plaintiff for 

months and, in some cases, years before Plaintiff’s knowledge, discovery of and access to such 

Evidence, and as said Evidence is contained within Gilbert Police, Phoenix Police and Maricopa 

County Superior Court documents which Plaintiff had to request via multiple Public Records 

Requests during investigation into the possible existence of such libelous and slanderous proofs, 

such as and specifically, Gilbert Police Reports and Police Body Cam footage, as well as 

Phoenix Police Reports, as well as letters of libel and slander that were contained in an ongoing 

Foreign Court Proceeding in Geneva, Switzerland, the Statute of Limitations for All Allegations 

and All Demands for Prayer contained in this Complaint, are, without exclusion, set to expire no 

sooner than April 18th, 2020.  The first series of pieces of Evidence utilized in this Complaint 
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4 

 

were sent from the Gilbert, Arizona Police Department, representative Wendi Hughes, on April 

18th, 2019, via email from wendi.hughes@gilbertaz.gov to Plaintiff at Plaintiff’s former primary 

email address of nsutz@unseen.is. 

 

                                     GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

1. Plaintiff is an Individual and is now, and at all times mentioned in this complaint, 

excluding the period of time directly related to Evidence in this time relative to dates 

prior to June 27th, 2017 when Plaintiff was a resident of Maricopa County, Arizona, a 

resident of Thônex, Canton of Geneva, Switzerland.  Further, Plaintiff is an American 

citizen who, prior to June 27th, 2017, resided in Maricopa County, Arizona.  Plaintiff was 

married to Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, on June 6th, 2010 and divorced on 

March 9, 2013, with both their marriage and divorce occurring in Maricopa County, 

Arizona.  By this marriage, Plaintiff was the son-in-law of Defendants, Robert Grant 

Bradford and Helen Mai Bradford.  Plaintiff was also, through the aforementioned 

marriage, the brother-in-law of Defendant, Damian Parnell Creamer.  By this marriage, 

and the subsequent divorce, as well, Plaintiff became the stepfather of Cory Grant 

Creamer and the biological parent of Skyler Creamer-Sutz. 

 

2. From of 2003, through to February 20th, 2010, the day upon which Plaintiff first met 

Defendants, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz and Helen Mai Bradford, Plaintiff worked as a 

published, best-selling author and film maker in the mental health recovery and advocacy 

industry.  Plaintiff had received enormous National media exposure for the 

aforementioned work and received testimonials regarding his written and film production 

mailto:wendi.hughes@gilbertaz.gov
mailto:nsutz@unseen.is
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work from leading psychiatrists, psychologists and mental health industry professionals 

throughout the USA.  Further, Plaintiff’s work in the U.S. Federal Court system, as Pro 

Se Plaintiff in a victorious ADA (Americans with Disabilities Act), lawsuit against Dr. 

Phil McGraw, Oprah Winfrey, Paramount Pictures, Peteski Productions, et al, placed 

Plaintiff in a highly-public and highly-respected position in the National media and 

mental health industry, upon which Plaintiff’s professional career and income became to 

rely solely upon as a means to support himself. (See multiple documents as Attachment 

1, as well as the final page of Attachment 1 being a Testimonial Letter from Dr. 

Jacqueline Schenkein, M.D., a gastroenterologist at Phoenix Children’s Hospital.  

Dr. Schenkein was Plaintiff son’s (Skyler Creamer-Sutz) gastroenterologist at 

Phoenix Children’s Hospital for 2 years, where she attended to Skyler’s feeding 

difficulties and medical needs related to his G-Tube, which was placed in Skyler’s 

stomach when he was only 5 months old.   Dr. Schenkein’s writing and delivery to 

Plaintiff of this Testimonial Letter was authorized by General Counsel at PCH.  

This Testimonial Letter, upon Plaintiff’s receipt, was delivered to the Geneva Court 

(TPAE) only 6 days after Plaintiff had his son and stepson removed from his 

custody.  The highlighted paragraph goes to Plaintiff’s impeccable parenting and 

specifically states that Dr. Schenkein never saw any, “…red flags” regarding 

Plaintiff’s parenting or interactions with his son, Skyler, or Plaintiff’s stepson, Cory. 

 

3. Furthermore, as shown in (Attachment 2), Plaintiff was issued a Level 1 Fingerprint 

Clearance Card, through the State of Arizona, Department of Public Safety, on April 23, 

2014.  Plaintiff has extensive experience in caring for children and adults in the Special 
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Needs, disabled, vulnerable and mentally ill sectors of society.  This card is still valid at 

the day of the filing of this Complaint and Plaintiff has never at any time since originally 

issuance of said card had it suspended, revoked or himself been under investigation for 

any crimes due to which this car would be revoked, as proven by Attachment 2. 

 

4. Following Plaintiff’s meeting of Defendants, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz and Helen Mai 

Bradford, and further discovering and being given direct victim testimony from his soon-

to-be-wife, Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz and Ms. Creamer-Sutz’s next-oldest 

sister, Donelle Creamer Hahn, regarding decades of sexual, physical, emotional and 

psychological abuse of said Defendant and her numerous siblings, perpetrated by 

Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz’s brother, Defendant, Damian Parnell Creamer, 

Damian’s best childhood friend, Don Vivier, Defendant’s now-deceased biological 

father, Donald Parnell Creamer, Plaintiff immediately insisted to his soon-to-be-wife, 

Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, that her brother, Defendant, Damian Parnell 

Creamer, as well as all still-living perpetrators of said horrific crimes against children 

should be turned into the Arizona Authorities for investigation, arrest, trial and 

prosecution.  

 

5. Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, immediately began communicating, to her 

mother and stepfather, Defendants, Robert Grant Bradford and Helen Mai Bradford, as 

well as to brother, Defendant, Damian Parnell Creamer, Plaintiff’s insistence on turning 

evidence of said crimes against children over the Arizona Authorities.  Following Ms. 

Creamer-Sutz’s communications of Plaintiff’s intentions to her family, including the all 
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three other Individual Defendants in this Complaint, a structured, highly-organized, 

malicious, systematic process of libel and slander against Plaintiff, by All Individual 

Defendants named in this Complaint, began without hesitation, and have not ceased to 

the present day of the filing of this Complaint.  Plaintiff had during all the time, prior to 

his insisting that said crimes against children by members of Plaintiff’s family-in-law be 

turned over the Arizona Authorities, enjoyed an excellent local, Arizona and National 

public and personal reputation, both generally in his life and in his public profession, as 

proven in Attachment 1 of this Complaint. 

6. Defendants Damian Parnell Creamer, Robert Grant Bradford, Helen Mai Bradford, 

Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, are all Individuals and are all now, and at all times 

mentioned in this complaint were, residents of Maricopa County, Arizona. 

7. Defendants Strongmind, LLC, Primavera Online High School, Primavera Online, Inc., 

Primavera Technical Learning Center, The American Virtual Academy, Inc., Northern 

Lights Student Tuition Organization, Inc. are now, and at all times mentioned in this 

complaint were, corporations organized and existing under the laws of the State of 

Arizona, both registered with the Arizona Corporation Commission, and are, 

respectively, owned and/or managed, wholly or in part, by and directed by Defendant, 

Damian Parnell Creamer.  All Defendant corporations’ physical premises, assets, 

communication systems, employees and lawyers were utilized by Defendant, Damian 

Parnell Creamer, to commit his specific acts of defamation, specifically libel and slander, 

contained within this complaint.  The Damian P. Cremer Revocable Trust is an Arizona 

Trust, set up by Defendant, Damian Parnell Creamer, wherein assets, including the home 
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lived in by all other three Defendants named in this Complaint, have been stored, utilized 

and hidden in the commission of the libelous and slanderous crimes listed in this 

Complaint. 

8. The home and legal residence of Defendants Robert Grant Bradford, Helen Mai Bradford 

and Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, at 2877 E. Baars Ct., Gilbert, Arizona 85297, is a 

residence having been fully paid for, maintained by, and perpetually, fiscally supported 

through the payment of all town, county and state fees and taxes by the Trust of Damian 

Parnell Creamer, the Damian P. Cremer Revocable Trust. (misspelling intentional during 

filming by Defendant Damian Parnell Creamer and his attorneys of record) as it appears 

on Maricopa County Assessor’s Online Database. (Attachment 3). 

9. The true names of defendants DOES 1 through 50, inclusive, are unknown to plaintiff at 

this time. Plaintiff sues those defendants by such fictitious names pursuant to section 474 

of the Code of Civil Procedure. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based on that 

information and belief alleges, that each of the defendants designated as a DOE is legally 

responsible for the events and happenings referred to in this complaint, and unlawfully 

caused the injuries and damages to plaintiff alleged in this complaint. 

10. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based on that information and belief alleges, that at 

all times mentioned in this complaint, defendants were the agents and employees of their 

co-defendants and in doing the things alleged in this complaint were acting within the 

course and scope of such agency and employment. 

 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

9 

 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL ACTIONS 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Slander Per Se) 

1. All 1st Part of Evidential References to Slander committed by Defendants, (that is, 

contained in sub-parties “a” through “j”), Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, Helen Mai 

Bradford and Robert Grant Bradford, are detailed and specifically present and in 

evidence, word for word and one video camera, on the July 11th, 2018 Body Worn Cam 

(further referred to as “BWC”) video interview which was recorded by Gilbert Police 

when said Defendants presented themselves to the Gilbert Court House in Gilbert, 

Arizona, on said date of July 11th, 2018, to file Defendants’ libelous, slanderous and 

defamatory complaint and make a verbal report to Gilbert Police regarding Alleged 

harassment, among other frivolous civil and criminal accusations, by Plaintiff against all 

four Defendants in this matter, including Defendant, Damian Parnell Creamer.  

 

2. Important to note, despite numerous requests by Interviewing Officer, Larry E. Sinks of 

the Gilbert Police during this BWC interview, for Officer Sinks and Gilbert Police to be 

given proof and/or actual evidence, from the possession of Defendants, of the Alleged 

crimes committed by Plaintiff, as detailed in Defendants’ Slanderous and False 

Testimony, All Defendants refused to give any written, photographic, technological 

(referring to Defendants’ numerous False Allegations of Plaintiff having and still-then 

hacking Defendants’ cellphones, computers fax machines, etc.). Defendants simply 
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continued to use Only their spoken words and frequently changed the facts of their 

diverse and Slanderous Testimony. 

 

3. The Body Worn Camera (BWC) Interview by Officer Sinks has a duration of 

approximately 51 minutes (Attachment 4, available via Gilbert Police Pubic Records 

and as a USB, from Plaintiff upon request, of BWC Interview and typed 

Incident/Investigation Report, Attachment 5) and during this time, Defendants 

collectively made the following Slanderous Statements, sometimes on multiple occasion 

in this Interview, and in various manners of speech and wording: 

 

a. Neal (Plaintiff) is a cocaine addict and an alcoholic.  No proof given, only the 

statement of Defendants. 

b. Neal (Plaintiff) is “crazy.”  Vague, no proof given, only the statement of Defendants.  

See Plaintiff’s career information as Attachment 1 to this Complaint. 

c. Neal’s (Plaintiff) Father in Scottsdale has a restraining order against him out of fear 

of Neal.  No such restraining order exists. 

d. Neal (Plaintiff) abused Plaintiff’s and Defendant Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz’s sons 

for years of their lives, in the USA and in Switzerland.  No proof given, only the 

statement of Defendants. 

e. Neal (Plaintiff) stole money from Defendants, Robert Grant Bradford and Helen Mai 

Bradford.  No proof given, only the statement of Defendants. 

f. Neal (Plaintiff) has, for years, and as recently as the time of this BWC-recorded 

interview with Officer Sinks, hacked and hacks all Defendants’ cellphones, landline 
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phones, desktop computers, laptop computers and fax machines and his stealing and 

re-routing both Domestic and International communications between reporting 

Defendants and numerous parties, including Defendants’ lawyers in Switzerland, and 

Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, and the sons of said Defendant and Plaintiff, 

as the children are living in a children’s group home in Canton Geneva, Switzerland.  

No proof given, only the statement of Defendants. 

g. Neal (Plaintiff) has hacked “other people’s” electronic communications devices, such 

as cell phones and computers, in the past and “knows how” to do this.  No proof 

given, only the statement of Defendants. 

h. Neal (Plaintiff) stole financial records, personal information and bank statements 

from the computer of Defendants, Robert Grant Bradford and Helen Mai Bradford.  

No proof given, only the statement of Defendants. 

i. Neal (Plaintiff) stole Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz’s debit/credit card while 

they lived in Switzerland together, as well as stole said Defendant’s cellphone.  No 

proof given, only the statement of Defendants. 

j. Neal (Plaintiff) stole naked pictures of Defendants’ biological grandson, Austin Grant 

Bradford, from the cellphone of Defendant, Helen Mai Bradford, and distributed said 

picture via the Internet.  (In referring to Gilbert Police Incident/Investigation Report 

of 02/24/2017, (Attachment 6), taken and written by Officers Ryan Churchman and 

Randy McLaws, it is irrefutable that said “picture” is, in fact, not a “picture,” but 

rather a short video of nephew, Austin Grant Bradford, naked in a bathtub with 

Defendant, Robert Grant Bradford.  Said Report of 02/24/2017 was an Investigation 

of “Molestation of Child,” the video of which, as detailed in the Report, was given to 
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Arizona Authorities, then to the Gilbert Police, by Defendant Cortnie Helen Creamer 

Sutz, herself, not “stolen” from Defendant Helen Mai Bradford’s cell phone by 

Plaintiff, as Alleged by Defendants in video interview, and was Not a “picture” of 

Austin naked in a bathtub which Defendants Falsely Allege that Plaintiff 

“stole/hacked” from Defendant, Helen Mai Bradford’s cellphone.  A screenshot of 

said video is included in this Complaint, as (Attachment 7).  No proof given, only 

the statements of Defendants.   

 

4. Had Plaintiff committed, been arrested for, charged with, tried in a Court of Law for, 

been found guilty of, or served jail time or probation for any of the crimes listed in the 

State and Federal Criminal History Record list, as shown in (Attachment 8), Plaintiff 

would not presently, nor in the past, have been eligible for receiving a Level 1 

Fingerprint Clearance Card from the State of Arizona, Department of Public Safety.  A 

printout from the Arizona Department of Public Safety’s website, shown as (Attachment 

9), as a live search for the “current status” of Plaintiff’s Level 1 Fingerprint Clearance 

Card, clearly shows that as recently, and to the day of the filing of this Complaint, 

Plaintiff’s Level 1 Fingerprint Clearance Card Status is, “Valid.” 

 

5. All 2nd Part of References to Slander (Phone Interview Testimony by Defendant, Robert 

Grant Bradford regarding an Alleged Missing Persons Report against Plaintiff, regarding 

the whereabouts of Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, Skyler Creamer-Sutz and 

Cory Grant Creamer – (Attachment 10) - committed by Defendants, (that is, contained 

in sub-parties “a” and “b” below) Robert Grant Bradford, are detailed, word for word, on 
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the July 14th, 2017 Phoenix Police Department Incident Report, falsely filed as a 

“Missing Persons Report.”  Further reference to her participation in the filing of this 

report with Phoenix Police, by Defendant, Helen Mai Bradford, can be seen and heard on 

video in the previously-mentioned, July 11, 2018 BWC video interview of Defendants, 

(Attachment 4) Helen Mai Bradford, Robert Grant Bradford and Cortnie Helen Creamer 

Sutz, wherein Defendant, Helen Mai Bradford, freely admits, of her own volition, to 

Officer Sinks of the Gilbert Police, that she also participated in the filing of the July 14, 

2017 long-ago-proven False “Missing Persons Report,” a case which the Phoenix Police 

closed due to the fact that there were never any, “Missing Persons,” regarding Defendant, 

Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz and involved children, Cory Grant Creamer and Skyler 

Creamer-Sutz.   

 

6. It was Defendants’ Slanderous Allegations in this False Missing Persons Report, when 

transferred, in urgency and with the help of ACTIC and INTERPOL, to the U.S. Consul, 

Mr. Jeremias Dirk and his Senior Assistant, Chris Del Monico, both of whom work in the 

U.S. Embassy in Berne, Switzerland, (both Parties who blatantly broke Swiss Federal 

Code 271, punishable by at least three (3) years in Swiss Federal Prison and the removal 

of Mr. Dirk and Mr. Del Monico’s diplomatic immunity in Switzerland) by involving 

themselves in a Swiss Judicial Matter, with the full, proven intent to organize and commit 

International Child Kidnapping, for which these two parties have not yet been charged or 

convicted) without written, authorized permission from the Swiss Federal Police and/or 

the Conseil Federal, that being the Federal Governing Board of the country of 

Switzerland) as well as the Geneva, Switzerland Police, the SPMi (Geneva equivalent of 
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DCS, and the TPAE (The Child and Adult Protection Court of Geneva, Switzerland who 

is deciding the legal fate of the two subject children and Plaintiff for the remainder of 

their lives) that Plaintiff’s loss of custody and daily life, existence with, caretaker of and 

parent of and with his son and stepson began to be aggressively put into place, 11 days 

later being the date, on July 25th, 2017, when the Geneva Court (TPAE) removed 

Plaintiff’s son and stepson from his presence, from his custody and, to this date, Plaintiff 

has never recovered his son and stepson. 

 

7. Defendants’ continued, Slanderous, False, Libelous and Defamatory, illegal participation 

in the Geneva Court (TPAE) proceeding continues to snowball, as shown in the multiple 

Attachments to this Complaint, already proven false upon this Missing Persons Report 

Case being Closed due to response to Phoenix Police Detective Morris of the Missing 

Persons Division, from ACTIC, that all 4 parties, that being Plaintiff, Defendant Cortnie 

Helen Creamer Sutz, and involved children, Cory Grant Creamer and Skyler Creamer-

Sutz, according to said Phoenix Police Report, via information from ACTIC, “…left 

Arizona and were in good condition.” – Phoenix Police, ACTIC and Interpol closed this 

Alleged Missing Persons Report Case and it has never been reopened. 

 

a. Defendant Robert Grant Bradford reports to Phoenix Police, verbally by telephone, 

that, “…Cortnie…(ex-wife of Neal and step-daughter of Robert)…had been abused 

by Neal several times in the past causing Cortnie to obtain six separate orders of 

protection…”  Important to remind the Court that Plaintiff is a Level 1 Fingerprint 

Clearance Card Holder and has never committed, nor been arrested for, nor charged 
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with any crimes, as listed in the printout of all crimes prohibiting an individual to 

receive a Level 1 Fingerprint Clearance Card from the State of Arizona, Department 

of Public Safety.  Furthermore, Plaintiff has never had a single restraining order 

authorized by a Court, in the USA, Switzerland or any other country, against him 

from Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, or any other party whatsoever for that 

matter.   

 

b. Defendant, Robert Grant Bradford, continues to claim, in his Slanderous Testimony, 

that Plaintiff, “…fled the country…and that his daughter was dead.”  This False, 

Slanderous Allegation corresponds with the other, False International Missing 

Persons report which was written and filed by Defendant, Damian Parnell Creamer, 

written on his company’s (Strongmind) stationary and filed with the U.S. Embassy in 

Switzerland, clearly, Falsely and Slanderously stating that Plaintiff had kidnapped 

Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, and the sons of the Plaintiff-Defendant 

couple, Cory Grant Creamer and Skyler Creamer-Sutz, to take them to Switzerland 

to, “…kill them…” 
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Libel Per Se) 

1. Included in the Second Cause of Action, Libel Per Se, are the following documents as 

evidence: 

 

a. A letter, (Attachment 11) written by Defendants, Robert Grant Bradford and Helen 

Mai Bradford, to the attorney, Ghislaine Ernoult de Marsano, of Defendant, Cortnie 

Helen Creamer Sutz, who is representing Cortnie in the custody case between 

Plaintiff and Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, in Geneva, Switzerland.  

Plaintiff did not receive a copy of this letter, from the Court in Geneva, called the 

TPAE (Tribunal de la protection d’adulte et d’enfant) until 8 months ago, as it had 

been strategically hidden from Plaintiff in the Geneva Court file, a “dossier” as it is 

referred to in French, French being the language spoken in Geneva, Switzerland. 

 

This letter details numerous False, Libelous Allegations against Plaintiff:  

 

1. Defendants, Robert Grant Bradford and Helen Mai Bradford, libel Plaintiff to 

Ghislaine Ernoult de Marsanso, indicated that “Cortni,” a Defendant in this 

Complaint, “…was persuaded to Go to Switzerland with her former husband, 

Neal David Sutz, (Plaintiff) under false pretenses.”  This statement is completely 

and wholly false and is contrary to the multiple pieces of evidence in this 

Complaint, primarily and most importantly, Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer 

Sutz’s “confession letter,” of September 13, 2017, (Attachment 14) which she 
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wrote by hand and had delivered to the Geneva Court (TPAE) and all parties to 

the custody case in Geneva, Switzerland.  It is this “confession letter,” legally 

testified by Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz as truth before Judge Audrey 

Helfenstein of the TPAE on October 20, 2017, that Ms. Creamer-Sutz came to 

Switzerland, in mutual accord with Plaintiff, moving their two sons with them at 

the same time, to literally, “escape” her parents, Defendants, Robert and Helen 

Bradford, due to having discovered a child pornography video of Mr. Bradford 

molesting Ms. Creamer-Sutz’s nephew Austin, while Mrs. Bradford shot the 

aforementioned video.  Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, further testified 

in Geneva, Switzerland, in writing and then confirmed verbally multiple times by 

3rd parties to the Geneva Court Case, as seen in (Attachment 12) that Defendants, 

Robert and Helen Bradford, “…are members of a cult of Mormons who believe 

that sex with minors is permissible.”  It is precisely this libelous letter of 

September 10, 2018, which Ms. Ernoult de Marsano, Geneva lawyer for Ms. 

Creamer-Sutz, turned into the Geneva Court as false testimony against Plaintiff, 

that has added only further complexity to Plaintiff’s continuous efforts by 

Plaintiff to recover his sons from the custody of the Canton of Geneva, by adding 

more false statements, libel and accusations of crimes which Plaintiff had never 

committed, that made, and continues to make Plaintiff, in the eyes of the Judge 

and all other decision makers in Plaintiff’s custody battle in Geneva to recover 

and save his sons after two years of confinement in the Geneva University 

Hospital and two, separate Children’s Group Homes, a potentially, however 

baseless the libelous and slander “evidence” against Plaintiff has been proven, in 
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Evidence, to be, an massive physical, emotional and psychological danger to his 

son and stepson. 

 

2. This same letter continues, in its last, longest paragraph, to refer to the original 

investigative reports of an Alleged molestation of same nephew, Austin Grant 

Bradford, Allegedly by Plaintiff, a case, dated 5/22/2012, that was cleared and 

closed due to being, “DNR - Unfounded,” in 2013 (See Attachment 13) by 

Defendants, Robert and Helen Bradford, bringing, “back from the dead” 

numerous pages of documentation of a proven false child molestation Allegation 

which never occurred, for which Plaintiff was never arrested, charged, tried in a 

Court of Law and/or prosecuted and which, most importantly, had been long-ago 

closed by Gilbert Police and DCS, this action of the September 10, 2017 letter 

further damaged Plaintiff’s chances of ever being able to recover his son and 

stepson from the custody of the Canton of Geneva, and put on the “table” and in 

the present minds of the decision makers here the libelous and already proven 

false Allegation that Plaintiff had been accused of molestation of a child in the 

past.   

 

3. It is important for this Court to note that Austin Grant Bradford, the same young 

boy who was in the aforementioned child pornography video with Defendants, 

Robert and Helen Bradford, was “mysteriously,” with no public explanation ever 

given, removed from the custody of Robert and Helen Bradford, following the 

evidence turned into DCS and Gilbert Police, as reported in the Gilbert Police 
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Report of February 24, 2017 (Attachment 6) supposedly to be adopted to another 

family, one Gina Janes who is referred to by Defendants in said interview, as a 

“teacher” of Austin’s who “…wanted to adopt him…” (as per verbal testimony in 

the July 12, 2018 BWC Interview by Officers Sinks of Mr. and Mrs. Bradford and 

Ms. Creamer-Sutz).  And while Austin does not, at the date of filing of this 

Complaint, reside with former adoptive parents, Mr. and Mrs. Bradford, neither of 

them were ever charged with violations of at least three Arizona Revised Statutes 

regarding sexual misconduct with a minor, all proven in evidence in the subject 

video which is an “Evidence Available for Request from Plaintiff by Maricopa 

County Superior Court Judge who is assigned this case” (not included in this 

Complaint as delivery of this material would constitute distribution of child 

pornography).  F.B.I. Agent and Attaché in Berne, Switzerland, William Peterson, 

requested from Plaintiff a copy on USB of this video at the orders of U.S.-based 

F.B.I. and immediately transferred this irrefutable evidence to his U.S.-based 

counterparts in February of 2019 after having met with Plaintiff in Berne, 

Switzerland.  This video, despite showing no genitalia nor penetration of the 

subject child, Austin Grant Bradford, is clearly in violation of at least three 

different Arizona Revised Statutes, including but not limited to A.R.S. 13-402, 

A.R.S. 12-404 and A.R.S. 13-1410. 

 

b. A letter, written by Defendants, Robert Grant Bradford and Helen Mai Bradford, to 

the Social Worker (in French known as “Curatrice”) at the SPMi (the Swiss 

equivalent of DCS) who is overseeing the “child protective” portion of the 
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aforementioned custody case.  This “Curatrice” is and has been since July of 2017 

when the subject sons were taken into the Custody of the Canton of Geneva, the 

principle decision-maker in Plaintiff’s legal efforts, two-years along now, influencing 

every single decision the presiding Judges in the Geneva Court (TPAE) make and 

have made regarding the future of Plaintiff and his son and stepson, and Plaintiff’s 

possibility to ever recover, bring home and save his son and stepson (Attachment 

15). 

 

This letter details numerous False, Libelous Allegations against Plaintiff: 

 

1. Defendants libelously claim, as in their letter of September 10, 2018, that Plaintiff 

took Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, with, “…her two children, Cory 

and Skyler, under false pretenses to Switzerland…”  Reasoning of this statement 

being libelous is noted above in explanation of the letter of September 10, 2018.  

The family’s move to Switzerland was a mutual decision. 

 

2. Defendants further state, “The plan was a lie.  Mr. Sutz planned to abandon his 

wife, and steal the children.” This statement is false and libelous, as proven to be 

a false testimony as per the September 13, 2017 Testimony letter of Defendant, 

Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, which she wrote to the Geneva Court, TPAE. 

 

3. Defendants further libel Plaintiff was stating, at the bottom of Page 1 of said 

letter, that, “Mr. Sutz is responsible for the break-up of his family, and for the 
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extended pain and trauma affecting the children, one of whom is not his natural 

child.”  This statement is false and libelous, proven by evidence in this Complaint, 

in that the “event” which occurred on July 15-16, 2017 in Geneva, Switzerland, a 

threat at attempting a double-suicide by Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, 

with their mutual son, Skyler Creamer-Sutz, by jumping from the 8th story 

window of the family’s apartment in Geneva, Switzerland, resulted in Defendant, 

Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, being hospitalized, under order from a Judge at the 

TPAE in Geneva, Switzerland, under strong psychiatric counsel from Defendant, 

Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz’s attending and evaluating psychiatrists at the 

Cantonal Hospital in Geneva (HUG) where she was first transported by 

ambulance from the family’s apartment on the morning of July 16 th, 2017.  

Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, was psychiatrically hospitalized, for a 

period, at first, of 60 days, under the sole discretion and order of the TPAE Judge 

and the Defendants’ attending/evaluating psychiatrists at HUG.  Plaintiff had no 

influence, sway nor gave any testimony to contribute to Ms. Creamer-Sutz’s 

psychiatric hospitalization, since under the Laws of the Canton of Geneva, 

specifically of the TPAE Court, a third-party, family member, friend or relative 

cannot commit a person to a psychiatric hospital nor influence a Geneva Court 

Judge’s decisions in such matters, contrary to how the Mental Health Court of 

Maricopa County works, wherein a family member, with witness testimony, can 

request psychiatric evaluation and/or hospitalization of a relative and/or friend, 

given the proper, legal steps are followed and taken. 
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c. A letter from Defendant, Damian Parnell Creamer, written on his corporate, 

“Strongmind” stationary, as an International Missing Persons Report, previously 

referred to in this Complaint.  Mr. Sutz was physically shown the letter, upon the 

beginning of the Geneva, Switzerland investigation of Plaintiff by the “Brigade 

Criminelle,” the investigative division of the Geneva, Switzerland Police, but was 

never given a copy for him to retain, as it is not permissible by Swiss Law for an 

“accused” party to receive copies of allegations in writing against them without a 

lengthy, expensive, generally fruitless legal battle.  Copies of the letter, in whole, 

remain with the U.S. Embassy in Berne, Switzerland, an anonymous party at The 

Department of State in Washington, D.C., and, as reported by all Defendants to 

multiple third parties, with ACTIC and INTERPOL.  This letter, based upon 

significant references in the TPAE Court File in Geneva, in part written by the SPMi 

and other, decision-making parties involved in the TPAE custody case in which 

Plaintiff is currently entwined to recover and save his sons, clearly states, at the 

written words of Defendant, Damian Parnell Creamer, that Plaintiff might have or is 

planning on “killing” Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, and the shared sons of 

Plaintiff and said Defendant, Cory Grant Creamer and Skyler Creamer-Sutz, and 

further states that Plaintiff kidnapped those three aforementioned parties to 

Switzerland.  The Maricopa County Superior Court, based on an Arizona State or 

U.S. Federal Subpoena, can swiftly get access to this False International Missing 

Report, by contacting any of the above-listed U.S. Authorities.  (Attachment 16, in 

French, is a page from the SPMi “dossier” in Geneva, Switzerland, with the 

highlighted portion referring directly to this libelous letter.  The last page of 
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Attachment 16 is an English translation of the highlighted portions, with respect 

for The Maricopa County Superior Court and as evidence in this Complaint). 

 

This letter details, among other things, the False, Libelous Allegations that Plaintiff 

“kidnapped” Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, and the subject children, Cory 

Grant Creamer and Skyler Creamer-Sutz, to Switzerland, and may have “killed” or would 

be “killing” them in Switzerland.  Based upon Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz’s 

TPAE-Court-Certified, hand-written letter of September 13, 2017, as well as her 

Testimony to HUG (Geneva University Hospitals) medical doctors, nurses, social 

workers, medical aids, Dr. Daniel S. Schechter, M.D., et al.  Defendant, Cortnie Helen 

Creamer Sutz, freely admitted, of her own volition and outside of the presence of 

Plaintiff, over an extended period of time, beginning upon her 1st psychiatric 

hospitalization in Geneva, Switzerland on July 16th, 2017, and to numerous medical 

professionals, psychiatrists and SPMi (equivalent of DCS in Geneva), that the reason Ms. 

Creamer-Sutz and Plaintiff “escaped” to Switzerland to start a new life and took their two 

young, Special Needs sons with them, was the direct result of Ms. Creamer-Sutz’s having 

fear of her birth family, specifically of her step-father, Defendant, Robert Grant Bradford, 

and brother, Defendant Damian Parnell Creamer, after they had, “…destroyed all of 

Neal’s sources of income…,” etc. and Plaintiff discovered a child pornography video, 

which was shot on her mother’s cellphone in Arizona, of her step-father, molesting her 

nephew, Austin, in a hotel bathtub. 
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Plaintiff has been for two years , and is still to the day of filing of this Complaint, being subject 

to massive personal and professional investigations and scrutiny, constant and ceaseless 

involvement in every aspect of his personal, family and professional life by Geneva Court 

(TPAE) and SPMi (equivalent of DCS) Authorities, was subject to a multi-hour, in-person, 

closed-room interrogation by a Criminal Inspector with the Canton of Geneva Police’s 

Prosecutor Office and, as a direct result of the False, Slanderous, Libelous pieces of evidence 

included in this Complaint, Plaintiff’s possibilities for ever recovering, bring home and saving 

his son and his step-son from the Geneva SPMi and the Geneva Court (TPAE), has vanished as a 

possibility and it has been decided that Plaintiff’s son and stepson will remain, until at least 18 

years of age in the custody of the Canton of Geneva, living in a Children’s Group Home where it 

has been proven by said Group Home’s employees, who are also Geneva Government 

Employees, that Plaintiff’s son and stepson are decompensating on massive and extreme 

emotional, physical and psychological levels of their lives and should be returned to their father, 

Plaintiff.  This letter, as well as all other evidence, as Attachments in this Complaint, have 

assured the permanent and irreparable harm against Plaintiff’s reputation, privately and publicly, 

in Geneva and in the USA, destroying nearly all of Plaintiff’s relationships, business partnerships 

and professional standing.  With no other proof other than the Slanderous, Libelous and 

Defamatory letters, emails, faxes, on-video and verbal, in-person statements by Defendants 

against Plaintiff, Plaintiff is still awaiting criminal charges, trial and prosecution of crimes, none 

of which Plaintiff ever committed, under the order of the Prosecutor of the Canton of Geneva, 

Switzerland. 
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SUMMARY OF JUSTIFICATION FOR PRAYER OF THIS COMPLAINT 

 

1. Upon information and belief, the members, employees, Judges, Social Workers, 

Curatrices, lawyers, medical doctors, psychologists, psychiatrists, advisors, teachers, 

nurses, therapists, et al, all involved, as Final decision makers, in the current custody case 

to for Plaintiff to recover, bring home and save son, Skyler Creamer-Sutz and stepson, 

Cory Grant Creamer, between Plaintiff, Defendant, Cortnie Helen Creamer Sutz, and the 

Canton of Geneva, Switzerland, which has already been decided by decision-making 

parties involved in said custody case, to prohibit Plaintiff from recovering, bringing home 

and savings his sons from the physically, emotionally, psychologically violent, false-

based nightmare that their young, broken lives have become, have understood, and 

understand to this day, that the slanderous statements verbally made by Defendants, and 

the libelous written testimonials of Defendants, regarding Plaintiff, Neal David Sutz, 

were made of, concerning and mentioned Plaintiff, Neal David Sutz, exclusively, and, as 

the decision makers in said custody case, are making all of their legal decisions based on 

Defendants’ libelous, slanderous and defamatory spoken statements and written 

statements. 

 

2. All verbal statements, considered and proven by evidence as slander, as well as all 

written testimonials written and made by All Defendants, considered and proven by 

evidence as libel, are defamatory, libelous and slanderous on their face, and expose 

Plaintiff, Neal David Sutz, to hatred, contempt, ridicule, lack of trust, lack of belief, lack 

of belief in character and truth and obloquy because Plaintiff, Neal David Sutz, is not, in 
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Truth and Fact, guilty of any of the false, libelous, slanderous, defamatory allegations 

made by any and all Defendants named in this complaint, nor of the character and 

behavior personally, nor associated with any persons of such character, behavior and/or 

nature.  Plaintiff has never said nor committed any of the slanderous or libelous 

accusations made by All Defendants in this Complaint’s Evidence Attachments. 

 

3. Plaintiff has never, proven by fact and evidence of this Complaint, said, committed, been 

arrested for, been tried in a court of law for, nor been convicted of any of the libelous, 

slanderous or defamatory verbal or written statements contained and shown as evidence 

in this Complaint. 

 

4. These written and verbal statements were heard and read by all actual, Judicial, police, 

investigative and Geneva SPMi (child protective services) decision makers in the 

determination of the possible recuperation by Plaintiff of his son and stepson in Geneva, 

Switzerland, as well as by Plaintiff’s immediate and distant family, Plaintiff’s lifelong 

friends, Plaintiff’s business associates, Plaintiff’s business partners, Plaintiff’s customers 

and all, in any form whatsoever audience members of Plaintiff, Neal David Sutz, when 

falsely and defamatorily shared with them by Defendants, beginning in July of 2010, and 

as recently as the date of filing of this Complaint, a date to which these defamatory 

comments continue to have full weight and influence. 

 

5. These slanderous and defamatory documents, letters, testimonials were written by All 

Defendants, and verbal statements of libel and defamation were spoken by All 
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Defendants.  All written statements were read by members of the Phoenix Metro Area 

community, Plaintiff’s family, friends and business colleagues, including Police, DCS 

and Phoenix Children’s Hospital and, more gravely, read by members and all decision 

makers in the ongoing custody dispute in Geneva, Switzerland, wherein it has been 

decided that the Geneva Court (TPAE) will not let Plaintiff recover the custody of his son 

and stepson, while they continue to live in a Children’s Group Home, are emotionally, 

physically and psychologically decompensating, more and more each week, and may 

soon be adopted out to another, unknown family, wherein the Geneva Court (TPAE) will 

be terminating Plaintiff’s Parental Rights of his biological son, Skyler Creamer-Sutz, and 

all contact and communication between Plaintiff and his son and stepson will be 

permanently prohibited. 

 

6. As a proximate result of the libelous statements and slanderous letters and testimonials, 

all made by Defendants, both in the USA and in Switzerland, Plaintiff has suffered loss to 

his reputation, shame, mortification, loss of custody of his son and stepson, as well as 

extreme suffering due to the estrangement created between Plaintiff and his son and 

stepson due to their being placed into the Custody of the Canton of Geneva in a 

Children’s Group Home, for a period, on July 25th, 2019, having been two years, all to his 

general damages. 

 

7. All Defendants were always and still are fully aware that their slanderous and libelous 

actions are and have always been completely false in their nature and content and fully 

constitute Defamation, by definition.  In Arizona, “[o]ne who publishes a false and 
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defamatory communication concerning a private person, or concerning a public official 

or public figure in relation to a private matter, is subject to liability, if, but only if, he (a) 

knows that the statement is false and it defames the other, (b) acts in reckless disregard of 

these matters, or (c) acts negligently in failing to ascertain them.” Antwerp Diamond 

Exch. of Am., Inc. v. Better Bus. Bureau of Maricopa Cnty., Inc., 130 Ariz. 523, 528, 637 

P.2d 733, 738 (1981) (quoting Peagler v. Phx. News., Inc., 114 Ariz. 309, 315, 560 P.2d 

1216, 1222 (1977)); see Dube v. Likins, 216 Ariz. 406, 417, 167 P.3d 93, 104 (Ct. App. 

2007) (quoting Rowland v. Union Hills Cntry. Club, 157 Ariz. 301, 306, 757 P.2d 105, 

110 (Ct. App. 1988)). 

 

8. “Publication . . . is a word of art, which includes any communication by the defendant to 

a third person.” Saban v. Maricopa Cnty., 1 CA-CV 08-0607, *5, ¶ 22, 2010 WL 

2977553 (Ariz. Ct. App. July 29, 2010) (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts § 652E, 

cmt. a (1977)); see Dube, 216 Ariz. at 417, 167 P.3d at 104 (“Publication for defamation 

purposes is communication to a third party.” (citing Morris v. Warner, 160 Ariz. 55, 62, 

770 P.2d 359, 366 (Ct. App. 1988); Restatement (Second) of Torts § 577 (1977))). 

 

9. “To be defamatory, a publication must be false and must bring the defamed person into 

disrepute, contempt, or ridicule, or must impeach plaintiff’s honesty, integrity, virtue, or 

reputation.” Turner v. Devlin, 174 Ariz. 201, 203-04, 848 P.2d 286, 288-89 (1993) 

(quoting Godbehere v. Phx. News., Inc., 162 Ariz. 335, 341, 783 P.2d 781, 787 (1989)). 
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10. Additionally, in order for defamation to arise, the defamatory statements must be 

statements of fact or “imply facts upon which [an] opinion [is] based.” Id. ; see Turner, 

174 Ariz. at 208, 848 P.2d at 293 (“[S]tatements of opinion are actionable when they 

‘imply a false assertion of fact.” (quoting Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Co., 497 U.S. 1, 

18-19, 110 S.Ct. 2695, 2706 (1990))). 

 

11. All Defendants had and still have full knowledge of falsity of their spoken and written 

statements against Plaintiff.  To be liable for defamation, the declarant must have known 

of the defamatory statement’s falsity, been reckless in his disregard of the statement’s 

truth, or been negligent in ascertaining the veracity of the statement. For example, if the 

statement “was the product of the defendant’s imagination, this would fulfill the burden 

of establishing a knowing falsehood.” Peagler, 114 Ariz. at 316, 560 P.2d at 1223 (citing 

St. Amant v. Thompson, 390 U.S. 727, 88 S.Ct. 1323 (1968)). 

 

12. Defendants, at all times, maintained a reckless disregard of the truth of all of Defendants’ 

spoken and written statements.  In order for a plaintiff to successfully prove the reckless 

standard, “[t]here must be sufficient evidence to permit the conclusion that the defendant 

in fact entertained serious doubts as to the truth of his publication.” Selby v. Savard, 134 

Ariz. 222, 225, 655 P.2d 342, 345 (1982) (citing St. Amant, 390 U.S. at 731, 88 S.Ct. at 

1325). 
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13. All Defendants were at all times completely negligent in ascertaining the truth of any and 

all of their spoken and written statements.  “Negligence is . . . conduct which creates an 

unreasonable risk of harm. It is the failure to use that amount of care which a reasonably 

prudent person would use under like circumstances.” Peagler, 114 Ariz. at 315, 560 P.2d 

at 1222.  Notably, “the requirement to prove negligence or greater fault in relation to the 

defendant’s knowledge of the falsity of the statement, ‘has, as a practical matter, made it 

necessary for the plaintiff to allege and prove the falsity of the communication, and from 

a realistic standpoint, has placed the burden of proving falsity on the plaintiff.’” Holm v. 

Lincoln & Cont’l Owners Club, 2 CA-CV 2010-0035, ¶ 14, 2010 WL 3894623, ¶14 (Ct. 

App. Oct. 5, 2010) (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 613 cmt. j (1977)). “Thus, 

although the burden of proving truth as an affirmative defense may remain on the 

defendant, a plaintiff may also bear some burden to prove the falsity of a defamatory 

statement in the course of proving negligence.” Id. 

 

14. Upon information and belief, in engaging in the above conduct, Defendants and DOES 1- 

50, inclusive, and each of them, acted with malice, oppression and/or fraud, entitling 

Plaintiff, Neal David Sutz, to general, presumed, actual and punitive damages. 
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